I. INTRODUCTION 

Diana S. Shelby, a denturist, began the process of providing a denture 

to Patient A on March 30, 2007 (CP 599). First, Shelby sold Patient A 

a temporary denture (CP 5 19). Then, Shelby provided care until December 4, 

2007 (CP 563). 

The normal useful life of a temporary denture is approximately six 

months (CP 344 (p. 171,392,694.721.765). Beginning October 30. Shelby 

instructed Patient A to replace the temporary denture with a permanent 

denture (CP 532), but Patient A did not do so, because Patient A could not 

afford to pay for a permanent denture (CP 61 7). 

The Health Services Consultant of the Denturist Program (Program), 

as designee of the Secretary of the Department of Health, brought an 

administrative proceeding against Shelby. The Program filed with the 

Department Amended Statement of Charges, requesting that the Department 

impose sanctions upon Shelby pursuant to RCW 18.130.1 60. 

The pertinent allegations of the Amended Statement of Charges stated 

as follows: 

A. Respondent did not adequately bind the denture's teeth 
to the denture base, causing them to repeatedly break 
off; 



B. Respondent poorly constructed the denture, causing 
malocclusion; 

C. Respondent did not adequately address the porous 
nature of the denture's acrylic which: 

1. Caused multiple fractures during the treatment 
period. 

2. Made the denture susceptible to bacteria, subjecting 
the patient to the risk of illness. 

D. Respondent left soft temporary liners in the patient's 
mouth for too long, which made them susceptible to 
bacteria, subjecting the patient to the risk of illness; 

E. Respondent failed to offer andlor provide services of a 
nature or in a manner that resolved the above problems 

A 

or met the standard of care. 

Based upon those charges, the Program alleged that Shelby "has 

committed unprofessional conduct in violation or  RCW 18.130.1 80(4)" 

(Amended Statement of Charges). An administrative law judge (ALJ) 

concluded that Shelby had committed unprofessional conduct and imposed 

sanctions including suspension of her license to practice as a dentmist "for 

a period of at least two years". 

Shelby petitioned the superior court for judicial review of that 

decision. The superior court afiirmed the decision of the ALJ. Shelby has 

now appealed to the Court of Appeals. 



11. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Errors 

The A1,J made the following errors: 

1. Finding of Fact 1.12: "The Respondent's treatment of Patient A 

did not meet the denturist standard of care." (CP 392) 

2. Finding of Fact 1.5: "If a denture is properly constructed, the pain 

and discomfort should subside after swelling has gone down." (CP 391) 

3. Finding of Fact 1.6: "If a denture is constructed properly, the 

patient should be able to leave the denture in most of the day and use the 

denture for eating." (CP 391) 

4. Finding of Fact 1.1 1: "Offering a patient the option of relining a 

problem temporary denture into a permanent denture when the problems 

associated with the denture cannot be remedied, does not meet the denturist 

standard of care." (CP 392) 

5. Finding of Fact 1.13: "A denture with a proper bite alignment 

should not cause pain and discomfod to the patient, after initial swelling 

subsides." (CP 393) 

6. Finding of Fact 1.15: "After Patient A's swelling subsided, Patient 

A continued to suffer pain and discomfort." (CP 394) 



7. Finding of Fact 1.16: "The denture, as constructed, did not 

properly align with Patient A's teeth. The pain and discomfort associated 

with the misalignment made it difficult to wear the denture for short periods 

of time, and made it difficult to eat." (CP 394) 

8. Finding of Fact 1.17: "The over-the-counter products did not 

alleviate the pain and discomfort associated with the improperly constructed 

denture." (CP 394) 

9. Finding of Fact 1.18: "The cause of the teeth falling out was 

improper construction of the denture fromthe outset due to an improper bond 

between the denture acrylic and the denture teeth." (CP 394) 

10. Finding of Fact 1.20: "The denture was fractured due to the 

porous nature of the denture acrylic. This was caused by improper 

construction of the denture from the outset." (CP 395) 

1 1. Finding of Fact 1.21 : "It was a violation of the denturist standard 

of care to instruct Patient A to continue to use a temporary denture ..." 

(CP 395) 

12. Finding of Fact 1.22: "The Respondent should not have offered 

to rcline the denture since the reline would not have corrected the problems 

with improper construction. Under the denturist standard of care, the 



Respondent should have constructed a new denture for Patient A at no cost 

to the patient. This should have occurred without regard to the life of the 

original temporary denture." (CP 395) 

13. Finding of Fact 1.23. (CP 395) 

14. Finding of Fact 1.24 to the extent that it implies that Respondent 

failed to meet the standard of care or lacked the necessary level of knowledge 

and skills. (CP 395) 

15. Finding of Fact 1.25. (CP 396) 

16. Finding of Fact 1.26: "I-Iowever, under the dentwist standard of 

care, the Respondent should have been able to detect the problems with the 

denture while treating Patient A without relying solely on the patient's 

inconsistent communications." (CP 396) 

17. Conclusion of Law 2.3. (CP 396) 

18. Conclusion of Law 2.5. (CP 397) 

19. Conclusion of Law 2.6. (CP 397) 

20. Conclusion of Law 2.7. (CP 397) 

21. Entry of the Order. 

22. Concluding that Shelby committed unprofessional conduct based 

upon lindings of fact that were not proven by clear and convincillg evidence. 



23. Applying Tier B sanctions. 

The superior court erred by affirming the decision of the ALJ. 

B. Issues 

1. When the standard of proof is clear and convincing evidence, what 

is the standard of review? 

2. Under RCW 34.05.570(3)(a), was the order of the Department of 

Health aviolation of Shelby's constitutional right to Due Process? This issue 

includes at least the following sub-issues: 

A. Did the Program prove that Shelby committed unprofessional 

conduct by clear and convincing evidence? 

B. Can an expert's opinion constitute clear and convincing evidence 

when that opinion is based upon false assumptions? 

C. When a temporary denture performs adequately for its intended 

useful life, can a denturist be found to have committed unprofessional 

conduct based upon a conclusionihat the temporary denture should have been 

of better quality? 

D. Was there clear and convincing evidence of facts ncccssruy to 

impose sanctions under Tier B of WAC 246-16-810? 



111. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Distinction between Occurrence Facts and Opinion Facts 

Although the opinion of an expert can be called a fact, this brief will 

make a distinction between the facts of the occurrence and the opinions of 

experts. In this case, there was no significant dispute regarding the facts of 

the occurrence, which were as follows: 

B. Facts of the Occurrence 

Shelby was a denturist continuously from 1999 until December of 

2009, when her denturist license was suspended as aresult of this proceeding 

(CP 777). Before 1999, there was no requirement in the State of Washington 

of licensing for denturists, but Shelby practiced as a denture lab technician, 

constructing dentures, from approximately 1974 through 1984 (CP 777). 

Since 2005, Shelby has Qeated approximately 3,000 patients (CP 777). 

Shelby began the process of providing a denture to Patient A on 

March 30, 2007 (CP 599). Patient A understood that this denture was 

temporary (CP 614). Patient A paid $413.25 for this temporary denture 

(CP 614). Patient A understood when she contracted for the temporary 

denture that she would need to replace it with a permanent denture after six 

to 10 months (CP 614). 



On June 21,2007, Shelby relined the temporary denture with a soft 

liner called Lynal (CP 562). At that appointment, Shelby also instructed 

Patient A regarding the proper use of the over-the-counter product Denturite 

(CP 798). Patient A disobeyed Shelby's instructions to use Denturite 

(CP 800). 

Patient A testified that she "started having trouble" with thc denture 

when she "would eat something, and a tooth would come out." (CP 530). 

Patient A said that the first broken tooth was on September 18, 2007 

(CP 530). On October 30, 2007, another tooth of the denture broke off 

(CP 602). The denture had not lost "teeth" until the second tooth was lost on 

October 30,2007 (CP 562). 

At the appointment to fix the broken tooth on October 30, Shelby told 

Patient A to replace the teinporary denture with apermanent denture or have 

the temporary denture relined and Patient A understood these instructions 

(CP 532,617,683, 806). 

There is no evidence that Shelby instructed Patient A to continue 

using the temporary denture after October 30. The testimony of Patient A 

shows that Shelby did not give such an instruction. Patient A testified as 

follows in her deposition: 



Okay. If we go to October 30, '07, you have another 
tooth repaired, this time tooth number 8. 

uh-huh. 

Now we're about seven months out - 

- &-om when the denture was Grst constructed or 
installed? 

Yes. 

Then, looks like we go into November, there's some 
discussion about relining or a new denture being 
constructed. What do you know about that? 

Yeah, she had talked to me about getting - either 
having that denture re-aligned or getting, making a 
new denture, or something like that. But at that time, 
because at that time of my year, my dad, as well as 
myself, were at the financial end of the road, so that's 

Q. Just didn't have the money? 

A. Right. (CP 532) 

Patient A testified similarly at the hearing, as follows: 

Q. And isn't it a fact that the first repair, that is, with the 
tooth falling out didn't occur until September 18"' of 
2007? That's the first time you had a problem with a 
tooth coming out? 

A. Basically, because - 



Q. Well, I'm not asking why, the record shows and 1 
think you've already testified - 

A. Yeah. 

Q. - that's when the tooth first fell out? 

Q. And now we're at about six  month^, zren't we? 

A. No. 

Q. We're not? 

A. It wasn't - it wasn't six months. 

Q. Well, the denture was installed in early April of '07, 
wasn't it? 

A. April. Yeah. 

Q. Okay. Well, the calendar - if1 - I think we all operate 
on the same calendar. April to September, that's if 
you add up all those months, that's six months? 

A. I guess you're right. 

Q. Now, didn't she tell you when the teeth started to 
come out, you said another one came out in 
November, another one in December, that it either 
needed to be relined or you needed to replace it with 
a permanent denture and you refused because you 
didn't have the money to buy a permanent denture? 

A. At that time, no, I didn't. (CP 616) 

One ofthe Program's experts, Vallon Charron, admittedihtat Shelby's 



treatment record says that Patient A was ready for reline or complete upper 

denture (CP 683). Patient A did not obey Shelby's instruction because 

Patient A did not have the financial ability to pay for either service (CP 532, 

616). In January, 2008, Patient A purchased a permanent denture from 

Joseph Vize for a price of "a little over $1,000" (CP 544). 

Shelby offered the relining option only in the event that Patient A 

could not afford a new denture (CP 805). She said, "Something needs to be 

done for people who can't afford a new denture." (CP 805). When Shelby 

was asked whether the relining would be intended to make the temporary 

denture into apermaneilt denture, she answered, "No, just to get by with until 

they can afford a new denture." (CP 805). Shelby's prices were $250 for a 

reline and $900 for a new denture (CP 805). 

On Februay 4,2008, Patient A wrote a letter to Shelby threatening 

to complain to ihc Department of Health unless Shelby paid Patient A 

a "refund (CP 564). However, the amount of money that Patient A 

demanded was $770 rather than a refund of the $413 that Patient A had paid 

Shelby (CP 557,620). When Shelby declined to pay the $770 to Patient A, 

then Patient A made a complaint to the Department of Health (CP 620). 

Patient A testified that Vize told Patient A to complain to the Department of 



Health (CP 540), but Vize denied it (CP 767). 

C:. Signilica.nc~!)f Finding of FacU,21 in thc 
Light of the I'ndispu&._d Facts of thc@ccurrcncc 

Finding of Fact 1.2 1. states as follows: 

It was a violation of the denturist standard of care to instruct 
Patient A to continue to use a temporary denture when the 
denture was a poor fit, it fractured lost teeth, and the pain 
and discomfort associated with the denture could not be 
alleviated by the denturist or by the Patient using over-the- 
counter products (CP 395). 

Finding of Fact 1.2 1 vaguely refers to a time when the judge decided 

that it was a violation of the standard of care to instruct Patient A to continue 

to use a temporary denture. That time was "when" three different events had 

all happened, as follows: "(1) the denture was a poor fit; and (2) it fractured 

and lost teeth; and (3) the pain and discomfo rt... could not be alleviated ..." 

The record shows that "when" the denture "lost teeth" was 

October 30, 2007 (CP 532). The denture lost a tooth, not teeth, on 

September 18 (CP 530). "Teeth" had not been lost until a second tooth was 

lost on October 30 (CP 562). There is no evidence that, before October 30, 

the denture was a "poor fit" or that it had fractured. Thus, the earliest datc to 

which the "when" of Finding of Fact 1.21 could have referred was 

October 30. 



Interpreting Finding of Fact 1.21 in conjunction with the undisputed 

facts results in a conclusion that the beginning of what the ALJ said was 

unprofessional conduct was on October 30,2007. This briefpreviously gave 

details regarding the fact that Shelby never instructed Patient A to continue 

to use the temporary denture after October 30. 

D. Valfon Charron O~inions 

1 .  Issue of original auality of the denture. Charron testified, in effect, 

that the quality of the temporary denture was adequate to comply with the 

standard of care by testifytng to the following: 

a. Until June 2 1, 2007, Shelby did not violate the standard of care 

(CP 670,673). This means that Charron approved of the temporary denture. 

b. Charron testified that it was a violation of the standard of care not 

to remove the soft liner and replace it with a temporary hard liner on 

September 18,2007 (CP 679). Parenthetically, it is important to note that the 

ALJ rejected this opinion by not making a finding of fact that Shelby 

breached the standard of care by failing to replace the soft liner with a 

temporary hard liner. The significance of this testimony is the implication 

that Charron had the opinion that the quality of the temporary denture was 

adequate at least until Septenlber 18,2007. 



c. Charron's criticism of the denture was not as to the original quality 

of the denture, hut as to his contention that the standard of care required 

Shelby to remove the soft reliner and replace it with a temporary hard liner 

(CP 688). The "soft liner" that Shelby installed in the denture on June 21, 

2007, is called Lynal (CP 704). 

d. Charron testified that the denture became inadequate because it 

was used too long with the temporary soft liner rather than because of any 

violation of the standard of care in the original manufacture of the teinporq 

denture (CP 686). Charron testified that in order to have complied with the 

standard of care, Shelby should have offered to remake the denture at the 

price that she would normally charge for relining the denture (CP 692). The 

reason Charron gave for his opinion was that the denture became inadequate 

by the time the fractures occurred and that the reason why the fractures 

occurred was because Shelby did not remove the Lynal (soft temporary liner) 

and replace it with a hard liner by September 18 (CP 691). Charron said, 

"The fractures only occurred because the practitioner did not take proper 

steps to put a more permancnt or semi-permanent temporary liner in 

this ... Instead of a soft liner, it should have been a hard liner." (CP 691) The 

significance of this testimony is the implication that there was no violation 



of the standard of care in the original manufacture of the temporary denture. 

2. Issue of giving Patient A the option of relining. In direct 

examination, Charron testified that it was a violation of the standard of care 

for Shelby to offer relining as an option (CP 684). That testimony was 

referring to the appointment on November 18 (CP 683). Charron testified 

that the standard of care required Shelby to offer Patient A only one option 

on November 18,2007, which was a new denture (CP 684). 

However, on cross-examination Charron admitted that this testimony 

was based on the assumption that Patient A could afford to pay for a new 

denture (CP 694). Charron admitted that it was within the standard of care 

for Shelby to offcr to reline the temporaq denture, because Patient A might 

bc able to afford to pay for relining the temporary denture, but not be able to 

afford paying for a new permanent denture (CP 695). 

Charron was asked whether the standard of care permits a denturist 

to offer a patient a reline to "provide the patient with some relief for a 

temporary denture that was expiring in terms of its useful life, so the patient 

could get by for some period of time until they could acquire the financial 

wherewithal to have apermanent denture made ..." (CP 694). Chanon agreed 

that this would be within the standard of care (CP 694). 

Then, Charron was asked, "That's exactly what happened inthis case; 

15 



isn't it?" His answer was, "Yes." (CP 695). Finding of Fact 1.19 was 

correct in stating, "The Respondent offered the reline option due to 

Patient A's financial situation." (CP 394). 

3. Issue of fractures. Charron testified that the denture fractured 

"because the patient was asked to have a soft temporary liner in this denture 

far beyond its date to be removed." (CP 686). This quotation contains two 

different assertions. First. the correct assertion that the fracture occurred 

because Patient A continued to use the temporay denture beyond its useful 

life. Sccond, the incorrect assertion that Shelby asked Patient A to do so 

(CP 532, 617, 683, 806). Patient A violated Shelby's instruction by 

continuing to use this denture beyond its useful life (CP 532,617,683,806). 

Charron testified that Shelby violated the standard of care because thc 

temporary denture fractured (CP 691). However, that opinion is inconsistent 

with the fact that the fracture did not occur until after Patient A disobeyed 

Shelby's instruction of October 30 to replace the temporary denture (CP 532, 

617,683,687,806). 

4. Issue of teeth coming out of denture. Charron testified that there 

was a violation of the standard of care because three teeth (teeth #3, #4, and 

#9) came out of the denture after December 4 (CP 676). When Charron 



testified that "these teeth" were not "binded" to the denture according to the 

standard of care at CP 678, "these teeth" referred to the three teeth that came 

off of the denture after December 4. 

Charron did not testify that Shelby violated the standard of care 

because of the tooth that popped off on September 1 8 or because of the tooth 

that popped off on October 30. At CP 676, lines 20 - 21, Charroil testified 

that he would not testify whether there was any problem with the 

manufacturing process because of tooth #11 coming off the denture on 

September 18. By the same reasoning, Charron also could not have 

expressed any opinion regarding tooth #8 coming off the denture on 

October 30. 

When tooth # I  1 came out of the denture on September 18, Shelby 

replaced it at no charge (CP 562, 804). When tooth #8 came out of the 

denture on October 30, then Shelby replaced it at no charge (CP 562,804). 

Charron did not testifi that there was any violation of the standard of care by 

Shelby with regard to these occurrences. 

It is not possible that Shelby could be guilty of unprofessional conduct 

with regard to the teeth that came out of the denture after December 4,2007, 

because this was more than a month after Shelby first instructed Patient A to 



replace this temporary denturewith apemanentone (CP 532,617,683,806). 

Charron claimed that he could determine from looking at this temporary 

denture that teeth #3, #4, and #9 were not properly affixed to the denture 

(CP 677). Dr. Shannon, an expert with qualifications superior to the 

qualifications of Charron, said it is impossible to make that determination 

without seeing the denture at the beginning (CP 488). He also said that the 

quality of the denture complied with the standard of care (CP 486). 

All experts agreed that the normal useful life of a temporaq denture

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