FILE

JUL 3 1 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

NO. 314944

34

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIANA S. SHELBY,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,

Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

RICHARD A. MCCARTAN WSBA No. 8323 Senior Counsel PO Box 40109 Olympia, WA 98504-0109 (360) 664-4998

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Following The *Hardee* Decision, The Burden Of Proof In Denturist Cases Is Preponderance Of Evidence

On judicial review, there must be substantial evidence to meet the agency's applicable burden of proof. *In re Discipline Proceeding Against Marshall*, 160 Wn.2d 317, 330, 157 P.3d 859 (2007). One burden of proof is "preponderance of evidence" which means "more likely than not." *State v. Ginn*, 128 Wn. App. 872, 878, 117 P.3d 1155 (2005). A higher burden of proof is "clear and convincing" which means "highly probable."

Ongom v. Dep't of Health, 159 Wn.2d 132, 136, 148 P.2d 1029 (2006). Ms. Shelby argues for the higher clear and convincing standard in disciplinary cases against denturists. Br. at 24-28. This argument is wrong.

In Nguyen v. Dep't of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm'n, 144 Wn.2d 516, 518, 29 P.3d 689 (2001), the court applied the clear and convincing standard to disciplinary cases against physicians. Similarly, in *Ongom*, the court applied the clear and convincing standard to cases against registered nursing assistants. Citing *Ongom*, the Health Law Judge found the clear and convincing standard also applied to cases against denturists like Ms. Shelby. CP at 396, ¶ 2.2.

However, following the Health Law Judge's decision, the court expressly overruled *Ongom* in finding that the lower preponderance standard applies to cases against home child care licensees. *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d at 18. Hence, the higher clear and convincing standard has not been extended to any health care professionals other than physicians. Based on the reasoning in *Hardee*, the higher standard should not be extended to denturists cases.

The *Hardee* court held that, in applying the higher clear and convincing standard to cases against registered nursing assistants, the *Ongom* court misapplied the three procedural due process factors to be

weighed under *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976).

The *Hardee* court identified the first *Mathews* factor as the "value of the property interest" at stake. *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d at 15. The court held that registered nursing assistants do not have the same "time, expense, and education" invested in obtaining a license, as compared to the physician in *Nguyen*. *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d at 16. Likewise, nor do denturists, as they need only complete two years of education, with a major course study in denturism. RCW 18.30.090. Because of their extensive education and training, physicians have a "unique" property interest among the various types of licensed health care professionals, justifying the higher standard of proof in cases against them. *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d at 18. Denturists do not have the same unique property interest.

The *Hardee* court identified the second *Mathews* factor as the risk of "erroneous deprivation" of a license, and the "probable value . . . of procedural safeguards." *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d. at 17. Under this factor, the court found that the lower preponderance standard is justified in cases against registered nursing assistants. *Id.* Likewise, it also is justified in cases against denturists.

Lastly, the *Hardee* court found that under the third *Mathews* factor, the costs to the state of conducting administrative cases justify the lower

preponderance standard in registered nursing assistance cases. *Id.* at 17-18. This cost analysis is equally true for cases against denturists, who do not have the same unique property interest possessed by physicians.

In conclusion, the lower preponderance standard applies to denturist cases.² In any event, the burden of proof is not determinative in Ms. Shelby's case because the Health Law Judge correctly found that the Department proved its case by the higher clear and convincing standard. As explained below, substantial evidence plainly supports the Department's decision, even under the higher standard.

B. Substantial Evidence Supports The Finding Of Unprofessional Conduct Against Ms. Shelby

The amended Statement of Charges makes five allegations of "unprofessional conduct" by Ms. Shelby in her treatment of the patient. CP at 226-27. Unprofessional conduct is "(i)ncompetence, negligence, or malpractice which results in injury to a patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed." RCW 18.130.180(4). The Health Law Judge's findings of unprofessional conduct, based on the five allegations, are supported by substantial evidence. In fact, Ms. Shelby musters no credible defense against any of the allegations.

² For the record, the Department agrees with Chief Justice Madsen's concurrence in *Hardee* that *Nguyen* should be overruled, and that all professions should be subject to the lower preponderance standard. *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d at 14-18.

1. As Alleged In The Statement Of Charges, Ms. Shelby Did Not Adequately Bind The Denture Teeth To The Denture Base, Causing Them To Repeatedly Break Off

The Health Law Judge found that the patient lost teeth because of improper construction of the denture, creating a weak bond between the acrylic and teeth. CP at 394, ¶ 1.18. As discussed below, this finding is supported by substantial evidence in the record, as found by the superior court. CP at 850.

The patient received her denture in April 2007. CP at 393, \P 1.14. At the hearing, the patient testified that in September, October, and November 2007, five teeth popped out. CP at 567-68. Ms. Shelby does not deny the teeth loss.

Two highly-qualified denturists, Vallon Charron, LD^3 (CP at 682) and Joseph Vize, LD^4 (CP at 740), testified that it is unusual for teeth to fall out of a denture. Mr. Charron offered three possible reasons for the

 $^{^3}$ Mr. Charron is a licensed denturist with his own clinic in Tacoma. At the outset of the case, the Department asked Mr. Charron for his expert opinion on the complaint. In 12 years, Mr. Charron has worked on 18,000-20,000 dentures. He has been executive director, president, and board member of the Washington Denturist Association; and past vice president of the national association. He teaches denturism at Pierce College. CP at 627-31.

⁴ Mr. Vize was the denturist who the patient saw after her unsuccessful treatment by Ms. Shelby. Mr. Vize has been involved with a denturist practice for about 20 years and has been licensed since 2003. He operates a clinic with offices in Pasco and Pendleton, Oregon. He also is president of the Washington Denturist Association. CP at 728-31.

Ms. Shelby alleges Mr. Vize's testimony was driven by his desire to eliminate her as a competitor. Br. at 22. No evidence supports this allegation. The Department called Mr. Vize because he treated the patient following Ms. Shelby's unsuccessful treatment, and his testimony was subject to cross examination.

patient's teeth not binding to the acrylic and falling out: (1) lack of a diatoric (dimple) in the teeth; (2) the teeth were too smooth; and (3) a manufacturing defect in which the wax was not completely boiled out of the impression. CP at 677-78. He testified that tooth loss is not expected in a temporary denture. CP at 688. Mr. Vize testified about the manufacturing defect. CP at 741-42. He further testified that a possible cause for the teeth loss was Ms. Shelby's failure to clean off the "separator film" from the underneath side of the tooth. CP at 741. He also found that the denture was too porous. CP at 742.

Ms. Shelby admitted that teeth will not pop out when "put in correctly." CP at 804. Regarding the patient's tooth loss, she acknowledged a possible manufacturing defect in her laboratory. CP at 817. But she also claimed that the patient's "changing bite" may have put pressure on the teeth, causing them to pop out. CP at 817. Mr. Vize refuted this testimony by noting that when teeth pop out "cleanly" (as opposed to shearing or breaking), as did the patient's teeth, the cause is an improper chemical bond to the acrylic. CP at 824. Mr. Vize further testified that the patient's remaining natural teeth were undamaged, indicating that bite pressure did not cause teeth to pop out. CP at 824. On redirect, Ms. Shelby did not rebut Mr. Vize's testimony. CP at 832-35.

Ms. Shelby relies the testimony dentist, on of а Dr. Michael Shannon. Br. at 27-28. Dr. Shannon has not done denture work in his 34 years of practice. CP at 720. He testified that all the patient's teeth fell out of the temporary denture "well after" six months of being installed. CP at 488. He suggested that a major reline or replacement of a temporary denture "normally" would occur after six months. CP at 488-89. The implication is that temporary dentures become susceptible to tooth loss as time passes.

Dr. Shannon's opinion was properly rejected on several counts. First, he has no experience in making dentures, and his opinion about the acceptability of tooth loss on temporary dentures was not shared by Mr. Charron or Mr. Vize, or even by Ms. Shelby. Secondly, Dr. Shannon had the facts wrong, as the September and October tooth loss *was* within six months of placement of the temporary denture. Finally, he admitted that tooth loss "usually" should be preventable throughout the use of a temporary denture. CP at 717.

As stated, the Health Law Judge accepted the opinions of Mr. Charron and Mr. Vize that the tooth loss was caused by faulty construction of the denture. He rejected Dr. Shannon's opinion that tooth loss was excusable given the temporary nature of the denture. As the superior court noted (CP at 852), a reviewing court is "not entitled to

weigh either the evidence or the credibility of witnesses." *In re Welfare of Sego*, 82 Wn.2d 736, 513 P.2d 831 (1973). Instead, the court simply "determines whether there exists the necessary quantum of proof" to support the challenged finding. *Id*. The testimony of Mr. Charron and Mr. Vize supports the challenged finding on the tooth-loss allegation.

2. As Alleged In The Statement Of Charges, Ms. Shelby Poorly Constructed The Denture, Causing Malocclusion

Malocclusion occurs when the upper and lower teeth do not align properly in the mouth. CP at 736-37, 748. The Health Law Judge found that the patient's denture teeth "did not properly align," causing "pain and discomfort" and making it difficult for her to eat or to wear the denture. CP at 394, ¶ 1.16. As discussed below, this finding is supported by substantial evidence in the record, as found by the superior court. CP at 850.

During the Department's investigation, Mr. Vize reported that the patient had a "severe" malocclusion when she came to him in December. CP at 195. He testified that Ms. Shelby had failed to correct the malocclusion. CP at 736-39, 761-62. Ms. Shelby's own expert, Dr. Shannon, testified that Ms. Shelby should have monitored the occlusions. CP at 722. Mr. Vize further testified that steps to correct the problem could have included occlusion grinding, installing a temporary

liner, or repositioning the teeth through a "jump" procedure. CP at 736-39. According to Mr. Vize, the patient's trouble eating and wearing the denture (CP at 609-11) would have been attributable to the malocclusion. CP at 736.

Ms. Shelby's defense is baseless. Although not testifying herself that the patient had a pre-existing malocclusion, Ms. Shelby claims that Mr. Vize believed a malocclusion was "present" when the patient "first came to" her. Br. at 23. That is factually incorrect. He actually testified that the patient's malocclusion would have existed starting from the time the dentures were installed by Ms. Shelby. CP at 736. In her brief, Ms. Shelby claims that Mr. Vize's criticism of the malocclusion is invalid because he did not know the patient's bite prior to the extraction of her teeth. Br. at 23. However, this claim was made by neither Ms. Shelby nor Dr. Shannon at the hearing, and was actually refuted by Mr. Vize, who testified that a denturist always should attempt to correct any denture malocclusion, *regardless* of the patient's pre-extraction bite. CP at 736.

In summary, the undisputed evidence is that a severe malocclusion existed in the patient's bite, and Ms. Shelby did not attempt to correct the problem, resulting in pain and discomfort to the patient.

As Alleged In The Statement Of Charges, Ms. Shelby Did Not Adequately Address The Porous Nature Of The Denture's Acrylic Which: (1) Caused Multiple Fractures During The Treatment Period, And (2) Made The Denture Susceptible To Bacteria, Subjecting The Patient To The Risk Of Illness

3.

The Health Law Judge found that the denture fractured due to the porous nature of the acrylic. CP at 395, ¶ 1.20. He also found that fractures promote the buildup of bacteria on the denture and in the patient's mouth. CP at 393, ¶ 1.12. As discussed below, these finding are supported by substantial evidence, as found by the superior court. CP at 851-52.

Mr. Charron testified that the denture was badly fractured in several places. CP at 686. He testified that the fractures occurred because the "soft lining" in the denture was left in too long (CP at 686, 691, 708) and the denture base was too thin. CP at 688. He concluded that the fracture showed Ms. Shelby's treatment was below the standard of care. CP at 688. He also testified that fractures made the denture ill-fitting and caused formation of harmful bacteria. CP at 688. Mr. Vize noticed the fractures when he examined the patient in December 2007. CP at 196. He testified that the "pale color" of the denture showed that the acrylic was too porous. CP at 822-23. Ms. Shelby allowed the patient to continue using the denture until the patient left her care in December 2007. This action was criticized by her own expert, Dr. Shannon, who testified that the denture should have been replaced in September. CP at 722. He explained that the fractures were the "perfect hiding place for bacteria." CP at 724. Ms. Shelby did not deny that the denture fractured, or that the fractures promoted bacteria growth and could cause illness.

4. As Alleged In The Statement Of Charges, Ms. Shelby Left Temporary Liners In The Patient's Mouth For Too Long, Which Made Them Susceptible To Bacteria, Subjecting The Patient To Risk Of Illness

"Relining" is the process of resurfacing the tissue side of a denture with new base material. CP at 83. The Health Law Judge found that a temporary denture should be relined and made permanent only when the denture is properly constructed in the first place. CP at 392, ¶ 1.11. He found that a temporary denture should resist fracture and tooth loss. CP at 392-93, ¶ 1.12. He found that the problems with the patient's temporary denture could not be fixed with a reline. CP at 395, ¶ 1.22. He found that the on-going problems created discomfort for the patient and promoted bacteria build-up that risked her health. CP at 396, ¶ 1.25. As discussed below, these findings are supported by substantial evidence, as found by the superior court. CP at 851-52.

Mr. Charron testified that to accommodate the swelling of tissue that occurs after pulling of the natural teeth, dentures are initially constructed too large. CP at 670. He noted that, throughout her care over eight months, Ms. Shelby had the patient use a "soft temporary liner" (denturite) to strengthen the tissue at the denture base. CP at 671. He stated that by September, the patient's soft temporary liner at least should have been removed and replaced by a "hard temporary liner" in places where the tissues had healed. CP at 679. According to Mr. Charron, leaving in the soft liner beyond two to three months in a fracturing denture allowed for harmful bacteria build-up. CP at 679-81. He stated that Ms. Shelby's failure to timely remove the soft liner was below the standard of care. CP at 708.

Mr. Vize testified that, under Ms. Shelby's care, the patient had applied multiple layers of denturite to the denture base, which was both unsanitary and contrary to the manufacturer's instructions to remove the material before reapplying. CP at 821-22. Mr. Vize noted that when he examined the patient in December, she complained of a "white growth" in her mouth, which was "red and inflamed" with "candida infection." CP at 822, 195. Ms. Shelby never refuted this evidence.

Ms. Shelby admitted that a hard reline would have been possible in September because the patient's tissue was "healing rapidly." CP at 805.

Her expert, Dr. Shannon, testified that the denture should have been replaced at that point, in order to avoid fracturing that promoted harmful bacteria growth. CP at 722, 724. Yet, in September, Ms. Shelby did not offer to do anything until the end of November. CP at 806. Ms. Shelby cannot defend the long delay, and does not dispute the associated health risks.

Ms. Shelby claims that she told the patient to replace the temporary denture with a permanent one. Br. at 46. However, as late as November, Ms. Shelby continued offering the patient *either* a hard reline or a new denture (CP at 683), even though the denture was fractured and teeth were popping out. Mr. Charron testified that a hard reline (instead of a new denture) was hardly an option because a hard reline would not have corrected the serious problems with the temporary denture. CP at 684.⁵ Mr. Vize agreed. CP at 748, 753.

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